

# **FIRE POLICY**

Date Ratified: 11 February 2025

**Meeting:** Finance and General Purpose Committee

Next review date: February 2028

**Supersedes:** Fire Policy 30<sup>th</sup> November 2021

# Contents

C	ontents		2
1.	State	ement of Intent	4
2.	. The	Council	4
	2.1	The Council is responsible for:	4
	2.2	The Chief Executive, Deputy Clerk and Facilities Officer are responsible for: .	5
	2.3	Section managers are responsible for:	5
	2.4	Fire Wardens are responsible (where applicable) for:	6
	2.4.	1 Day to day housekeeping:	6
	2.4.2	2 Weekly:	6
	2.4.3	3 Monthly:	6
	2.4.	Monthly or annually as appropriate:	6
3.	. Emp	oloyees	7
4.	. Con	tractors (including Hot works)	7
5.	Fire	Risk Assessments	7
6.	. Mor	nitoring	8
7.	Logk	oooks	9
8.	. Proc	edures	9
	8.1	If you hear the fire alarm	9
	8.2	If you discover a fire	10
	8.3	If you discover faulty equipment	10
	8.4	Testing the fire alarm	10
	8.5	Testing the emergency lighting	11
	8.6	Inspecting the evacuation chair	11
	8.7	Checking the fire extinguishers	11
	8.8	Final exits	12
	8.9	Fire drills	12
	8.10	Housekeeping	12
	8.11 fire ala	Servicing and maintenance of fire safety and critical equipment connected t	
	8.12	Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans (PEEPs)	
	8.13	COSHH	
	8.14	Portable Appliance Testing (PAT)	

8.1	5 Fire register	14
9. T	raining	14
9.1	All staff	14
9.2	Town Hall staff	15
9.3	Outdoor staff	15
9.4	Any staff that require further training as a part of their job role	15
9.5	Training specifications	15
9.6	Training timescales and revision	15
10.	Discipline	16
11.	Review	16

#### 1. Statement of Intent

Thornbury Town Council is a responsible employer and recognises the importance of fire safety in the workplace. Good fire safety practices prevent and reduce the risk of harm to employees, contractors, members of the public, and other parties affected by Council operations or activities.

To comply with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, and other relevant legislation, the Council has formulated a comprehensive Fire Policy outlining the responsibilities and duties of all individuals within the organisation.

Furthermore, the Fire Safety Act 2021 introduces specific duties for "building owners" in certain residential buildings. Thornbury Town Council recognises these duties and ensures compliance for its leased properties.

## 2. The Council

#### 2.1 The Council is responsible for:

- (a) Ensuring the safety of council employees.
- (b) Ensuring the safety of the general public on Council property or those affected by its operations.
- (c) Ensuring the safety of vulnerable individuals who may be on Council property or affected by its operations. "Vulnerable individuals" refers to those with specific needs (e.g., mobility impairments) and this links to Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans (PEEPs).
- (d) Ensuring the safety of contractors and volunteers working for or on behalf of the Town Council property or other premises.
- (e) Complying with all relevant government fire safety legislation.
- (f) Maintaining a comprehensive Fire Policy, which is regularly reviewed and updated as necessary, particularly following significant changes that could impact its effectiveness.
- (g) Allocating sufficient funding to meet legislative requirements and its responsibilities as outlined in section 2.1. and specific legal duties under the Fire Safety Order, such as:
  - i. Ensuring fire risk assessments are carried out regularly
  - ii. Implementing preventive and protective fire measures
- (h) Providing adequate staffing, training, and resources to ensure compliance with legislation and fulfil the Council's responsibilities outlined in section 2.1.

i. Informing and instructing employees regarding fire risks

#### 2.2 The Chief Executive, Deputy Clerk and Facilities Officer are responsible for:

- (a) Using day to day monitoring and the appraisal process for review and collation of training needs to feed back to the Staffing Committee.
- (b) When budget setting, ensuring that sufficient finance is available for fire safety including training, servicing and adjustments needed as a result of fire risk assessments.
- (c) Delegating responsibilities to an appropriate number of fire marshals to oversee day to day operational fire safety procedures, and safe evacuation procedures in the event of a fire incident. Fire marshals need to receive adequate training in accordance with RRO Article 21 (training).
- (d) Establishing correct and safe procedures in line with legislation and organisation requirements and ensuring adherence to the same.
- (e) Ensuring there is a comprehensive Health and Safety Policy and separate Fire Policy in place, which is reviewed routinely by the Finance & General Purpose Committee.
- (f) Ensuring there is sufficient firefighting equipment on Council premises, in accordance with fire risk assessment requirements.

#### 2.3 Section managers are responsible for:

- (a) Ensuring adherence to the Fire Policy and procedures, amongst their team.
- (b) Completing their site's logbook and keeping it stored safely on the premises to which it relates.
- (c) Assessing training needs amongst the team and reporting this back to senior management, who can communicate this need with the Staffing Committee. Training records for all employees are kept in accordance with RRO Article 21
- (d) Ensuring comprehensive induction training is given to new starters, and adequate supervision provided thereafter, on fire policy and procedures.
- (e) Disseminating fire safety information to their team.
- (f) Reporting defects and concerns to senior management.
- (g) Familiarising themselves with the Fire Policy, fire legislation and organisational procedures.

- (h) Ensuring appropriate risk assessments are in place and that new ones are created for any new machinery acquired or activities which are not already covered by existing documentation.
- (i) Ensuring that plant and machinery are maintained, including servicing.

#### 2.4 Fire Wardens are responsible (where applicable) for:

#### 2.4.1 Day to day housekeeping:

- (a) Ensuring workspaces are kept tidy and free of clutter.
- (b) Ensuring bins are emptied routinely and rubbish is not allowed to build up or be stored in inappropriate places. External bins should be locked, kept away from the building and preferably have a rubber lid.
- (c) Ensuring access routes and fire exits are kept clear and unobstructed.
- (d) Ensuring appropriate use of extension cables and that only PAT tested equipment is being used.

#### 2.4.2 Weekly:

- (a) Checking that the fire alarm test has been carried out.
- (b) Checking that the final exit fire doors have been tested for ease of opening.
- (c) Checking that the fire extinguisher checks have been completed.

#### 2.4.3 Monthly:

- (a) Checking that the emergency lighting test has been carried out.
- (b) Checking that the fire evacuation chair inspection has been carried out.

## 2.4.4 Monthly or annually as appropriate:

- (a) Checking that a fire evacuation drill has been carried out.
- (b) Checking that PAT testing has been carried out.
- (c) Checking that the emergency evacuation chair has been serviced.
- (d) Fire wardens also understand the importance of periodic risk assessments under Article 9 of the RRO, ensuring potential risks are continuously identified and addressed.

# 3. Employees

All employees are responsible for the following:

- (a) Reporting any faults or defects with fire safety equipment, hazards, or concerns they may have around fire policy and safety.
- (b) Following procedures and adhering to their training.
- (c) Taking all reasonable and necessary precautions to keep themselves and others around them safe.
- (d) Co-operating with reasonable instructions and training provided.
- (e) Checking equipment thoroughly to ensure it is safe to use and in good condition. This may include cleaning, maintaining and servicing the equipment if it is within the employee's job role, or arranging for it to be done by another party.
- (f) Using equipment provided in a correct manner, without interfering or behaving recklessly with tools, machinery, safety equipment or PPE.

# 4. Contractors (including Hot works)

- 4.1 It is likely that when hot works are required to be used in Thornbury Town Council premises, contractors will undertake the works. Hot works involve activities that generate heat, sparks, or flames, such as tarmacking, welding, grinding, cutting, soldering, and using blow torches.
- 4.2 Contracts involving hot works will require a 'Permit to Work', issued by Thornbury Town Council, prior to the commencement of any work (see Management of Contractors Policy). The Permit to Work will only be issued upon receipt of the contractor's Risk Assessments and Method Statements (RAMS), which formally authorise hot works and provide a structured system to control where, when, and how these activities are carried out.

## 5. Fire Risk Assessments

- 5.1 Fire Risk Site Assessments will be carried out by a competent and qualified external company which aligns with RRO Article 18. The risk assessment will be reviewed annually by the Finance & General Purpose Committee and revised on every third anniversary, or following any major changes on the premises which may include but is not limited to:
  - (a) The addition of new equipment.

- (b) A change of work activities and any others held or that take place within the premises.
- (c) Alterations to the building, both internal and external, including building layout.
- (d) A change to or addition of any hazardous substances used or stored on the premises.
- (e) Fire equipment failure.
- (f) Changes to the use, area, type or contents of any storage spaces or facilities.
- (g) Changes to the occupancy of the building.
- (h) Changes to the level of mobility of those occupying the building, or the change or addition of users or visitors who may be vulnerable.
- (i) Changes to the management of the premises or organisation.
- 5.2 Recommendations given in the fire risk site assessment must be completed within the given timescales, with higher risks given the highest priority to rectify.
- 5.3 There must be funds available to complete recommendations in the fire risk assessment. It is the responsibility of the Council to provide for this in their annual budget, ensuring that fire safety systems are updated to meet any new risks identified in the risk assessments (per RRO Article 8 and Article 9).
- 5.4 Additional 'local' Fire Risk Assessments will be produced by Operational staff when required to ensure compliance with fire safety regulations and to identify any new or evolving risks.

# 6. Monitoring

- 6.1 Monitoring of the policy and adherence to it, effectiveness of training and budget spent may be undertaken by both the Staffing Committee and Finance & General Purpose Committee, who report to full Council. The Chief Executive will be responsible for ensuring that monitoring is part of the agenda.
- 6.2 The annual review of the policy will be completed by the Finance & General Purpose Committee.
- 6.3 The Chief Executive and Deputy Clerk are responsible for overseeing the monitoring of day to day adherence to the policy and procedures and should liaise with section managers to address any concerns.

- 6.4 Appropriate and realistic timescales must be put in place to address any shortcomings. The appropriate Committee must ensure that any remedial actions are carried out.
- 6.5 All serious fire safety incidents will be subject to investigation, with a report and findings presented to full Council.

# 7. Logbooks

A logbook will be kept on each premises and will contain details (where applicable) of:

- (a) Fire alarm model details, testing, servicing, false alarm and evacuation events.
- (b) Emergency lighting testing and servicing.
- (c) Fire extinguisher inspection and servicing.
- (d) Evacuation chair inspection and servicing.
- (e) Solar panel inspection and servicing.
- (f) Emergency contact details for responsible people and key holders.
- (g) Fire maintenance company details and contacts.
- (h) Locations of call points, detectors and other fire safety components, which may be in the form of a colour coded floor plan.
- (i) Logbooks include dates and details of inspections, as RRO requires proof of compliance in these records.

## 8. Procedures

## 8.1 If you hear the fire alarm

- 8.1.1 Calmly evacuate the area without stopping to collect any possessions. Leave via the nearest, safe and unobstructed fire exit. Proceed to the assembly point at that premises.
- 8.1.2 Report to your section manager, who will liaise with the fire marshal to ensure everyone has been evacuated.
- 8.1.3 Do not re-enter the building until instructed to do so.
- 8.1.4 Do not use the lift in the event of a fire.

- 8.1.5 If you are unable to exit the building, either because of blocked fire exits and no escape route, or limited mobility, proceed to the refuge point and await assistance.
- 8.1.6 Trained members of staff may use the evacuation chair to assist individuals waiting at the refuge point, to evacuate the building.

#### 8.2 If you discover a fire

- 8.2.1 Find the nearest call point and break the glass/activate it carefully.
- 8.2.2 If you are trained to tackle the fire, have the correct equipment to do so and are confident that you can do so safely, you may attempt to. If the fire is too large, or the situation becomes too dangerous for you to remain, evacuate immediately without stopping to collect any possessions. Leave via the nearest, safe and unobstructed fire exit. Proceed to the assembly point at that premises.
- 8.2.3 Communicate the details of the fire to the fire marshal so that this can be relayed to the emergency services.

#### 8.3 If you discover faulty equipment

8.3.1 Alert your section manager or a member of senior management immediately. Give clear and concise details of the equipment damaged, faulty, missing or tampered with, and its location. Agree who will take action to remedy the situation, which may involve calling the fire maintenance company and keeping people away from the area.

#### 8.4 Testing the fire alarm

- 8.4.1 The alarm must be tested weekly, with each call point tested on rotation.
- 8.4.2 Make staff and visitors to the building aware that you are testing the alarm, so that they do not commence evacuation procedure. Alarms connected to a monitoring station (SMC Monitoring), will need to be put in 'test mode' before activating.
- 8.4.3 Ensure that the alarm sounds promptly when the call point is tested, sounders and beacons are working, automatic fire doors release and that the lift returns to the ground floor and opens its doors. Check that the call point location and alarm panel response are satisfactory.
- 8.4.4 Record details of the test and any findings in the logbook.

8.4.5 If the test was not satisfactory, alert immediately your section manager or a member of senior management. Agree what the course of action will be, who is responsible for it and write this in the logbook.

## 8.5 Testing the emergency lighting

- 8.5.1 Emergency lights must be tested monthly. A flick test must be undertaken on all test points.
- 8.5.2 Make staff and visitors to the building aware that you are testing the emergency lighting, so they do not panic when lights go out. Avoid testing them during hours of darkness if possible.
- 8.5.3 Ensure that the emergency lights come on when activated and that the LED light indicating the battery backup is showing.
- 8.5.4 Record details of the test and any findings in the logbook.
- 8.5.5 If the test was not satisfactory, alert immediately your section manager or a member of senior management. Agree what the course of action will be, who is responsible for it and write this in the logbook.

#### 8.6 Inspecting the evacuation chair

- 8.6.1 The chair should be inspected monthly, or in line with manufacturers standards, to check that it is in good working order. The inspector should check that the chair is present, opens and closes without difficulty and has not been tampered with.
- 8.6.2 Record details of the inspection and any findings in the logbook.
- 8.6.3 If the inspection was not satisfactory, alert immediately your section manager or a member of senior management. Agree what the course of action will be, who is responsible for it and write this in the logbook.

## 8.7 Checking the fire extinguishers

- 8.7.1 Any fire extinguisher that has been discharged or tampered with must be reported immediately so that a replacement is provided or that the unit is recommissioned and certificated for use.
- 8.7.2 All fire extinguishers (including blankets) must be visually checked weekly to ensure they are still in their correct location and have not been discharged or tampered with. Regular check must be made to ensure extinguishers are still within date and

- that any pressure gauges are within safe limits. Luminescent signage should be in place at each extinguisher location.
- 8.7.3 Fire Extinguishers are commissioned on an annual basis by a BAFE certified fire extinguisher engineer.

#### 8.8 Final exits

- 8.8.1 Ensuring that **fire signage** is in place and compliant with **BS 5499** standards.
- 8.8.2 All final exits should be checked weekly to ensure they are unobstructed and easy to operate in the event of an emergency. They should be in a serviceable condition and not require a key, code or specialist knowledge to operate.
- 8.8.3 Record details of the inspection and any findings in the logbook.
- 8.8.4 If the inspection was not satisfactory, alert immediately your section manager or a member of senior management. Agree what the course of action will be, who is responsible for it and write this in the logbook.

#### 8.9 Fire drills

- 8.9.1 Fire drills should be conducted in line with the requirements of the fire risk assessment. For the Town Hall and Pavilion, this is a minimum of twice a year. At other premises, due to the low and transient occupancy of the buildings on a regular basis, drills are not assessed as necessary if the other fire risk assessment recommendations regarding procedures and training are implemented.
- 8.9.2 Record details of the drill and any action points in the logbook. Details should include the time taken to evacuate the building, day, date, time of alarm, any observations and a debrief with all staff.
- 8.9.3 If the drill was not satisfactory, alert immediately your section manager or a member of senior management.
- 8.9.4 The responsible person (fire marshal or manager) must take appropriate action to remedy the unsatisfactory drill response. This may involve referring the matter to the Staffing Committee, Finance & General Purpose Committee or full Council.
- 8.9.5 The responsible person must ensure that appropriate action is taken in a timely manner, the timescale of which must be determined in line with the severity of the shortcoming or failure.

## 8.10 Housekeeping

- 8.10.1 It is expected that all staff keep their work area clear and tidy.
- 8.10.2 Rubbish bins and all forms of waste should be disposed of promptly and in line with legislation. External bins should be stored away from the building and locked where possible.
- 8.10.3 Extension and electrical cables should not be left trailing and should be tidied. Extension cables should not be daisy chained or overloaded.
- 8.11 Servicing and maintenance of fire safety and critical equipment connected to the fire alarm

Fire safety equipment must be serviced and maintained regularly:

- a) Fire alarm must be serviced by the fire maintenance company every 6 months
- b) Emergency lights should be subject to a discharge test every 6 months
- c) Fire extinguishers must be serviced every 12 months
- d) Fire detectors (heat and smoke) must be serviced every 6 months
- e) Solar panels must be inspected and serviced every 12 months
- The lift must be serviced every 3 months and subject to a LOLER inspection every 6 months
- g) The commercial gas boilers should be serviced before and after the winter period (September and March) whereas domestic boilers must be serviced annually all must have a gas safety certificate.
- h) All fixed electrical equipment must have an EICR inspection in line with legislation (5 years on domestic properties, 3 years on commercial, 2 years on industrial and annually for the splash pad).

Record details of all testing and servicing in the logbook, along with faults found and actions taken.

## 8.12 Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans (PEEPs)

Staff members or regular visitors who have mobility issues may require a Personal Emergency Evacuation Plan, which details special arrangements for them in the event of an emergency. The Chief Executive is responsible for identifying individuals who may need one, creating the Plan, and storing it safely in line with GDPR. Any member of staff who becomes aware of an individual who may require a PEEP, should share this information with the Chief Executive. The Plan will need to be shared with relevant members of staff who may need to

assist that individual in an emergency, which may include managers, fire marshals and any employee who may assist in an evacuation procedure.

#### 8.13 COSHH

- 8.13.1 All substances potentially hazardous to health must be securely stored in their designated locked COSHH cupboard when not in use. The site COSHH book should be regularly updated and reviewed at least annually, or sooner if new substances are introduced, requiring updated Safety Data Sheets. Records must be submitted to the office for documentation.
- 8.13.2 Staff should not attempt to fight any fires in or around the COSHH cabinet, or where the substances are in use. If staff are present, they should inform the emergency services of the location of the COSHH cabinet(s) and any details available of their contents.

## 8.14 Portable Appliance Testing (PAT)

Portable appliances must be PAT tested in line with requirement for the type of appliance, location and user type. All details should be kept on the PAT testing log and failed items taken out of use until repair, or immediately disposed of.

#### 8.15 Fire register

A register must be kept of all contractors and visitors to the site. Tenants are responsible for keeping their own registers and in the event of a fire, must liaise with the building's fire warden. Town Council registers should be shredded at the end of each day, in line with GDPR (tenants may have their own policy).

# 9. Training

#### 9.1 All staff

Basic fire training is to be provided to all staff across all premises. This may be provided in the form of face to face or online delivery. The training they receive will be:

- (a) Induction training to ensure familiarisation with premises, procedures, team members and routine.
- (b) Fire safety training.
- (c) Fire marshals will receive fire marshal and practical fire extinguisher training

#### 9.2 Town Hall staff

In addition to the training that all staff receive, Town Hall staff will also receive training on the evacuation chair.

#### 9.3 Outdoor staff

In addition to the training that all staff receive, some outdoor staff will also receive practical fire extinguisher training.

9.4 Any staff that require further training as a part of their job role

Some staff will require additional training, which may include:

- (a) PAT testing
- (b) COSHH
- (c) Hot works permits
- (d) Fire marshalling
- (e) Equipment specific training
- (f) In house training on testing or inspection of emergency lighting, fire doors, housekeeping, fire extinguishers and risk assessments

#### 9.5 Training specifications

A competent and qualified training provider will deliver 8.5.1 Training.

- 9.5.2 Particular attention will be given to young and vulnerable people who may be staff members, volunteers, visitors or other parties.
- 9.5.3 Training should be premises and role specific.
- 9.5.4 Training provided will be appropriate to the level of risk.
- 9.5.5 The fire risk assessment will be referred to when determining what training is needed.
- 9.6 Training timescales and revision

Training will be provided at induction and refreshed periodically thereafter. All training will be recorded in the Training Log. Training will also be refreshed following:

- a) New or increased risks which may present
- b) The introduction of new equipment or technology
- c) New responsibilities being given to a member of staff
- d) The introduction of new ways of working
- e) Change to staffing structure

# 10. Discipline

Serious, wilful or persistent disregard of safety measures, legislation, regulations or policy will be treated as a disciplinary matter. Failure to comply with reasonable instructions from section managers, senior management and fire wardens will also be treated as a disciplinary matter and will be dealt with under current procedures in force. The Staffing Committee is responsible for setting and monitoring disciplinary procedures.

## 11. Review

- 11.1 This policy will be reviewed every three years by the Finance & General Purpose Committee, or sooner following:
  - (a) Significant changes to the organisation, buildings, staffing or operations
  - (b) An updated fire risk assessment
    - (c) Changes of legislation
    - (d) Serious failings of fire safety
- 11.2 Following review, the revised policy will be issued to all staff.